STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Clarendon County

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHAD MORRIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001713

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court commit reversible error by admitting improper lay witness opinion testimony as to the miles per hour speed lay witnesses believed Appellant's boat was traveling at the time of the fatal collision when the lay witnesses lacked the necessary skills, training, and experience to accurately estimate the speed of Appellant's boat at night?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 11, 2014, the Clarendon County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Chad Morris for one count of reckless homicide by operation of a boat and one count of failure of a water craft operator to render assistance in an accident resulting in death. R. 623-624.

On July 11-15, 2016, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger Young and a jury. R. 1. Shaun Kent represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Chris Durant represented the State. The jury found Appellant not guilty of reckless homicide by operation of a boat, but guilty of the lesser included offense of neglect homicide by operation of a boat and guilty of failing to render assistance in an accident resulting in death. R. 601, l. 21 – R. 602, l. 13. The trial court sentenced Appellant to five years imprisonment on the failure to render assistance charge and thirty days on the negligent homicide conviction. R. 622, ll. 1-12.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court will not disturb the circuit court's admissibility determinations absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 326, 577 S.E.2d 460, 468 (Ct. App. 2003). "An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." *State v. Irick*, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). To show prejudice, the appellant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

ARGUMENT

Did the trial court commit reversible error by admitting improper lay witness opinion testimony as to the miles per hour speed lay witnesses believed Appellant's boat was traveling at the time of the fatal collision when the lay witnesses lacked the necessary skills, training, and experience to accurately estimate the speed of Appellant's boat at night?

Relevant Facts

Appellant's convictions stem from a fatal boating accident on Lake Marion that occurred in the early morning hours of July 4, 2014. R. 30, l. 13 – R. 36, l. 15. That night, Appellant was driving a bass boat on Lake Marion in Clarendon County. *Id.* His friends, Jessica Long and Frank Card were riding with him in the boat. R. 420, l. 1 – R. 423, l. 7. Other friends of Appellant, Gregg Mains and his wife Lori Puckett, were following Appellant in their boat. *Id.*

At approximately 12:30 a.m., Appellant's boat was heading away from area known as Scarborough's landing. R. 343, l. 25 – R. 345, l. 16. Hailey Bordeaux, Stephen Stafford, Justin Cromer, and Caroline Cromer were also on Lake Marion that night in Stafford's bass boat. R. 59, l. 22 – 123, l. 25. The group of friends had planned a lake weekend at Cromer's lake house. Earlier in the night, after consuming several beers the Cromers, Stafford, and Bordeaux decided to put Cromer's boat in the water. *Id.*

At the time of the collision, Cromer's boat was floating in the middle of the lake with their engine off. R. 66, l. 1 – R. 67, l. 21. Those in Appellant's boat claimed Cromer's boat's nighttime running lights were off. R. 535, l. 22 – R. 539, l. 8. Appellant's bass boat struck in the right front bow of Cromer's boat. *Id.* Caroline Cromer, Justin Cromer, and Stafford were all thrown from the boat. Bordeaux was not and tragically sustained fatal blunt force trauma injuries to her head. R. 292, l. 23 – R. 293, l. 4.

Appellant stopped his boat immediately after the collision. R. 535, l. 22 – R. 543, l. 16. Someone in Appellant's boat, most likely Jessica Long, and those from Cromer's boat began exchanging recriminations, each blaming the other for the collision. R. 178, l. 5 – R. 181, l. 24. After a few minutes at the collision scene, Appellant – fearing that his boat was damaged and taking on water – left the area and headed towards the nearest known sand bar near Long's family's lake house. R. 538, l. 25 – R. 539, l. 8.

By the time Appellant left, other boats had arrived at the accident and were assisting with Bordeaux's treatment. R. 535, l. 22 – R. 543, l. 16. Several people who were on nearby docks also drove their boats to the collision scene and attempted render aid. Bordeaux was taken in pontoon boat to a nearby boat landing where emergency medical technicians began CPR. R. 205, l. 2 – 265, l. 7.

While Appellant was consulting with a member of Long's family about the accident, a game warden drove by in his boat. R. 539, ll. 6 - 24. The warden initially drove past the area, but eventually saw people on the lake shore attempting to get his attention and pulled around to meet with Appellant. *Id.* After checking on the condition of his boat, Appellant followed the DNR officer to a nearby boat landing. R. 539, l. 16 – R. 541, l. 7.

Appellant passed two field sobriety tests and voluntarily answered all of law enforcement's questions. R. 429, l. 6 – R. 430, l. 1. Appellant was adamant that he did not see Cromer's boat and that Cromer's boat did not have its nighttime running lights on. R. 538, ll. 1 – 22. Appellant estimated he was traveling approximately twenty miles per hour at the time of the collision. R. 542, ll. 16 – 22. Appellant explained that he stayed at the accident scene following the collision in an effort to render aid, but that he left after the people from Cromer's boat started

threatening him and because he feared that his boat was damaged in the collision. R. 544, l. 3 – R. 545, l. 15.

Appellant's Trial

At trial the State averred that Petitioner acted recklessly, not merely negligently, when driving his boat at a high rate of speed on the night of the incident. R. 48, l. 12 – R. 53, l. 8. The State alleged that Appellant failed to render aid and provide insurance information as required by law. *Id.* The State further contended that Appellant's failure to remain in the area after the collision manifested an indifference to human and to the consequences of his actions. *Id.*

The defense countered that Appellant was— at the most — negligent. The defense argued extensively that, unlike roads, there is no speed limit on Lake Marion. R. 53, l. 10 – R. 58, l. 1. Further, the defense argued that Appellant discharged his duties under the law by stopping after the collision and that Appellant only left once help arrived for Cromer's boat and because Appellant feared that his boat was taking on water. *Id.*

The testimony of independent witnesses (i.e. those not either in Appellant's boat or Bordeaux's boat) was essential to the State's case. There were several people who testified that they witnessed the collision. Despite it being dark at the time of the collision, many of these people claimed that they were able to accurately estimate that Appellant was traveling between thirty-five and sixty miles per hour based solely on the sound of the boat's engine and the appearance of the boat's trim. R. 32, l. 7 – R. 33, l. 21; R. 153, l. 11 – R. 154, l. 14.

Prior to trial, defense counsel objected to these witnesses testifying as to the miles per hour speed they believed Appellant was traveling at the time of the collision. R. 7, l. 1 – R. 11, l. 10. Defense counsel reasoned that a lay witness did not have the necessary training, experience, or skill to visually estimate a boat's speed at night with accuracy. *Id.* Defense counsel also

contended that lay witness opinion testimony as to Appellant's potential speed was unduly prejudicial and of only marginal probative value as to whether Appellant was reckless or merely negligent because there is no legal speed limit on the lake. *Id.*

The State posited that the witnesses were qualified by virtue of having witnessed the accident and from their own individual experiences with boats. *Id.* The trial court agreed with the State and found the following lay witnesses' opinion testimony on the miles per hour speed of Appellant's boat admissible and not unfairly prejudicial. R. 40, l. 9 – R. 41, l. 12.

Jonathan Waynick's Testimony

Waynick was standing on a friend's dock when he first saw a boat heading towards Scarborough's Landing about ten minutes before the collision. R. 136, l. 9 – R. 139, l. 21. Waynick testified that, based on his experience with bass boats, this unknown boat was traveling approximately forty to fifty miles per hour. *Id.*

Waynick testified that the same bass boat collided with Cromer's stationary boat about as the boat was returning from Scarborough's Landing. Tr. 199, l. 2 – R. 145, l. 7. He estimated that the boat was going approximately the same speed it was when it passed him the first time. Waynick further believed – based on seeing Morris' nighttime running lights – that Morris' boat flew roughly fifteen to twenty feet in the air after impacting Bordeaux's boat. *Id.*

Stephen Stafford's Testimony

Stafford was at his family's lake house on the night of the collision. Stafford's family owned a bass boat that he frequently drove. He was on his bass boat at the time of collision. Stafford first saw Appellant's boat as it passed him from a couple hundred yards away in the dark. R. 31, l. 21 – R. 32, l. 16. Stafford estimated, based on his experience that Appellant was traveling at around fifty to sixty miles per hour. *Id.*

On cross-examination, Stafford admitted that he only saw Appellant's boat briefly and from a considerable distance in the middle of the night on a largely unlit lake. R. 34, l. 23 – R. 36, l. 15! Stafford further conceded that he had no formal training relating to speed visualization. *Id.* Finally, Stafford reluctantly admitted that he had at least six beers that night and that he could not see the shoreline of the lake so to compare it with Appellant's speed. *Id.*

Testimony of Zanne Morris

On the night of the collision Morris watched Appellant's boat drive past him on its way to Scarborough's Landing. Morris estimated, based on his experience pulling his children on an inflatable tube that Appellant was going faster than thirty-five miles per hour. Morris could not provide a more exact speed. R. 153, l. 15 – R. 155, l. 17.

Discussion

The trial court erred by ruling that Waynick, Stafford, and Morris were qualified to give lay opinion testimony on the mile per hour speed they believed Appellant's boat was traveling either immediately before or during the collision. Speed calculations, as a sub-field of accident reconstruction, require a knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education in order for the opinions to be admissible. None of these gentlemen had the requisite background and their opinion testimony on the mile per hour speed of Appellant's boat should have been ruled inadmissible as improper lay witness opinion testimony.

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence allow a party to present opinion or inference testimony regarding "an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact" if a proper foundation for admitting the testimony has been established. Rule 704, SCRE; *see also State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001) (holding that opinion may be offered on ultimate issue only where witness is otherwise qualified).

However, lay witness opinion testimony is only admissible when:

[T]he witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences *which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.*

Rule 701, SCRE (*emphasis added*). The “perception” of a lay witness is limited to that witness’ first hand observations and personal knowledge regarding the subject of his testimony. *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996) (holding that lay witness’ opinion that murder victim may have stolen defendant’s crack cocaine prior to being killed was admissible because it was rationally related to events that she witnessed and to her knowledge of the two men.).

An example of admissible lay witness identifications can be found in *State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 721 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2012). On appeal, Fripp challenged the trial court’s admission of testimony from two store employees identifying him as the burglar in the store’s surveillance footage. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s admission of the employees’ testimony reasoning that the requirements of Rule 701, SCRE, had been satisfied.

Unlike the three men in Appellant’s case, both employees testified that they “knew Fripp ‘very well’ and “saw him all the time.” 396 S.C. at 438-39, 721 S.E.2d at 467. One of the employees also knew Fripp through his family. Both recognized a very distinctive blue shirt that they frequently saw Fripp wear when he patronized the store he was convicted of burglarizing. Furthermore, the Court held that the identifications were “helpful in determining a key fact in issue - whether Fripp was the person depicted on the videotape.” *Id.*

In upholding the admission of the employee’s identification, the Court of Appeals approvingly quoted the Fourth Circuit:

[T]estimony by those who knew defendants over a period of time and in a variety of circumstances offers to the jury a perspective it could not acquire in its limited exposure to defendants. Human features develop in the mind's eye over time. These witnesses had interacted with defendants in a way the jury could not, and in natural settings that gave them a greater appreciation of defendants' normal appearance. Thus, their testimony provided the jury with the opinion of those whose exposure was not limited to three days in a sterile courtroom setting.

This fuller perspective is especially helpful where, as here, the photographs used for identification are less than clear.

Fripp, 396 S.C. at 440; 721 S.E.2d at 468 quoting *U.S. v. Allen*, 787 F.2d 933, 936 (4th Cir. 1986) vacated on other grounds, 479 U.S. 1077, 107 S. Ct. 1271(1987) (quotations omitted).

Here, three men, none of whom could determine the approximate distance that they watched Appellant's boat traveled, opined that Appellant was traveling somewhere between thirty-five and sixty miles per hour. R. 31, l. 21 – R. 32, l. 18; R. 136, l. 9 – R. 139, l. 21; R. 153, l. 15 – R. 155, l. 17; see *In re Thomas S.*, 402 S.C. 373, 741 S.E.2d 27 (2013) (holding that the trial court erred in allowing social worker to give improper lay witness testimony where she had not personally observed petitioner abuse his victim and lacked personal knowledge of the reasons why petitioner committed offenses).