ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001713

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

CHAD MORRIS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 18 2018

ALAN WILSON SC Court of Appeals
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

EARNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 836
Sumter, South Carolina 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly, pursuant to Rule 701, SCRE, admitted lay witness opinion testimony estimating the speed of Appellant's boat at the time of the fatal collision because that testimony was rationally based on each witness' perception and was helpful to the jury in properly deciding the case. Furthermore, any error in admission of such testimony was entirely harmless where Appellant was acquitted of reckless homicide by operation of a boat and he admitted during trial he was guilty of negligent operation of a water vessel.

Appellant argues the trial court "committed reversible error by admitting improper lay witness testimony as to the mile per hour speed lay witnesses believed [his] boat was travelling at the time of the fatal collision" because the lay witnesses lacked the necessary skills, training, and experience to accurately estimate the speed of his boat at night. (Brief of Appellant, p.3). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit. The trial judge properly admitted the lay witnesses' opinion testimony estimating the speed of Appellant's boat pursuant to Rule 701, SCRE, because the testimony was based on each witness' individual perception and was helpful to the jury in properly deciding the case. In addition, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the admission of such testimony where he was acquitted of reckless homicide by operation of a boat and where he specifically admitted during trial he was guilty of negligent operation of a water vessel. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The admission or exclusion of evidence rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Johnson*, 413 S.C. 458, 466, 776 S.E.2d 367, 371 (2015); *State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 166, 682 S.E.2d 19, 30 (Ct. App. 2009). "To warrant reversal based on the

admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” *State v. Singleton*, 395 S.C. 6, 13-14, 716 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

Law / Analysis

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence that assists the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent. *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. *In the Matter of Care and Treatment of Corley*, 353 S.C. 202, 205, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003); *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). It is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved. *See Sweat*, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. Indeed, evidence is relevant if “logically relevant” to establish a material fact or element of the crime; it need not be “necessary” to the State’s case in order to be admitted. *Id.* (citing *State v. Bell*, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 (1990)).

Lay witnesses are permitted to offer opinion testimony when the opinion or inference: (1) is rationally based on the witness’ perception; (2) is helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or to the determination of a fact in issue; and (3) does not require special

knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Rule 701, SCRE; *see State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 463, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996) (“The opinion or inference of a lay witness is admissible if it is a) rationally based on the perception of the witness, b) helpful to the determination of a fact in issue, and c) does not require special knowledge.”). “[C]onclusions or opinions of laymen should be rejected only when they are superfluous in the sense that they will be of no value to the jury.” *State v. McClinton*, 265 S.C. 171, 176-77, 217 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1975).

It is a general rule that any person of ordinary intelligence, who has an opportunity for observation, is competent to testify as to the rate of speed of a moving automobile. 94 A.L.R. 1190. The weight to be given to the testimony of a witness as to the speed of an automobile is for the jury. *Id.* This general rule is commonly accepted in our sister states both near and far. *See, e.g., Reedman v. State*, 593 S.E.2d 46, 51 (Ga. 2003) (holding the opinion testimony of an eyewitness may be used to establish the speed of an automobile); *State v. Green*, 335 S.E.2d 176, 177-78 (N.C. 1985) (“It is well settled that a lay witness may testify as to his opinion about the speed of a moving vehicle. The prerequisite to such testimony is that there was an opportunity to see the event being testified about. . . . As long as the time and distance of the observation enable the witness to do more than hazard a guess, the testimony is admissible.”); *Howard v. State*, 346 So.2d 918, 920 (Miss. 1977) (acknowledging the general rule that “a witness who observed the moving object in question will be permitted to estimate its speed if he possesses some knowledge or experience, however slight, which will enable him to form an opinion.”) (quoting CORPUS JURIS SECUNDUM); *State v. Bettencourt*, 723 A.2d 1101, 1111 (R.I. 1999) (“Where exact speed is not an issue, a witness need not be qualified as an expert before being allowed to testify as to the speed of a moving vehicle. As long as the time and distance of the observation enable the witness to do more than hazard a guess, the testimony is admissible. The brevity of an

observation and an approximation of speed go not to the admissibility of the evidence, but to the weight or the evidence and the credibility of the witness.”); *Quist v. Commonwealth*, 338 S.W.3d 778, 784 (Ky. Ct. App. 2010) (holding a police officer’s testimony was admissible as a lay witness estimate on the speed of the vehicle, based on his personal observations). Similarly, our supreme court has approved admitting lay witness opinion testimony as to the miles per hour speed of a vehicle. *Livingston v. Oakman*, 251 S.C. 611, 613-14, 164 S.E.2d 758, 759 (1968) (holding the defendant’s testimony that plaintiff’s automobile was traveling at a speed of 35 to 40 miles per at the time of the collision was of value to the jury even though she only saw the vehicle “an instant” before the crash). In approving such testimony, the Court noted: “The probative value of the testimony of defendant as to the speed was for the jury to determine.” *Id.* at 614, 164 S.E.2d at 759.

While the general principle is usually applied to testimony estimating the speed of a moving automobile, the principle has been found equally applicable to lay witness opinion testimony about the speed of other vehicles and vessels, when a proper foundation has been laid. *See, e.g., Stotler v. Chicago & A. Ry. Co.*, 98 S.W. 509, 515 (Mo. 1906) (affirming the trial court’s decision to admit a mass of testimony from persons who had observed the speed of a **train** and who had made such observations through a series of years upon the speed of trains by watching their passage); *Torrez v. Willett*, 115 N.W.2d 393, 396 (Mich. 1962) (reversing the trial court’s exclusion of offered testimony of the plaintiff’s witness as to the estimated speed of a **boat** just prior to an accident). In *Torrez*, the Michigan Supreme Court noted the proffered witness “testified he had driven a motor boat probably a hundred times in the previous 6 or 7 years and had opportunity to estimate his motor boat’s speed, and also, to estimate the speed of other boats, both while driving his boat and when standing on the shore; and, that he had

observed defendant operating the boat for 10 to 15 minutes prior to the accident.” *Id.* The court acknowledged defendant had several valid points he could develop on cross examination and argue to a jury in regard to the lack of probative value of the testimony, but they were not sufficient to disqualify the plaintiff’s witness from expressing his opinion as to the speed of the defendant’s boat, and the testimony should have been allowed. *Id.*

Here, the trial judge properly admitted the testimony of all three State’s witnesses who gave an estimated rate of speed of Appellant’s moving boat. The witnesses’ testimony satisfied the requirements for lay opinion testimony under Rule 701, SCRE, as the testimony was based on their own perceptions of the speed of Appellant’s boat, the testimony was helpful to the jury, and the testimony was based on their personal knowledge and experience with boats. The testimony was not confusing or spurious. Instead, the testimony was crucial in enabling the jury to assess the credibility of Appellant and the other witnesses in their conflicting accounts about the speed of Appellant’s boat, which was an important issue in a case of alleged recklessness. Furthermore, the testimony did not improperly invade the province of the jury in deciding the case. The witnesses merely aided the jury in properly determining whether Appellant’s speed was indicative of reckless operation of his boat, which in turn enabled the jurors to accurately determine whether Appellant was guilty of the indicted offense.

Appellant cites *State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 721 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2012), as an example of admissible lay witness testimony and argues the circumstances of the testimony given in his case are different. Yet, the rationale behind admitting the testimony is quite similar. Indeed, the testimony of the three individuals who had significant experience boating on Lake Marion while observing other boats on the lake and tracking the speed of their own boats offered the jury a perspective it could not acquire in whatever limited exposure it had to boating and the

relative speed of boats. As in *Fripp*, their testimony was helpful to the jury in gaining a better understanding of other testimony offered at trial, and in the determination of facts in issue. It provided the jury with the opinion of those who had both the opportunity to observe Appellant's moving boat at the time of the collision as well as foundational knowledge and experience regarding the speed of boats. In both cases, the lay witness opinion testimony was properly admitted.

Next, relying on *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001), and *Fowler v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 403, 764 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2014), Appellant argues the testimony should have been excluded because it consisted of opinions that required special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. However, the three witnesses who estimated the speed of Appellant's boat did merely that: they "estimated" the speed within a range rather than giving an expert opinion as to exact speed based on measurements, damage to the boats, or other factors that might be known to a person with scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge based on experience, training, or education. Those lay witness opinion estimates of speed were properly admitted by the trial court after the State established each witness' basic foundational experience with boating and the fact that he or she observed the movement of Appellant's boat at the time of the collision. As explained above in regard to testimony about the speed of a moving automobile, the probative value of this admissible evidence was properly left for the jury to determine. See *Green*, 335 S.E.2d at 177 ("The ability of a witness to accurately determine the speed is a question of credibility rather than a question of admissibility."). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the lay witness opinion testimony, and his ruling was supported by the evidence in the record.

In any event, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the admission of the testimony estimating the speed of his boat because he was acquitted of reckless homicide by operation of a boat. The only argument Appellant made at trial was that the speed estimates were not relevant where there are no speed limits on the lake. The solicitor responded that because there are laws which prohibit vessels from driving too fast for conditions, speed is relevant to reckless operation of a boat. Nevertheless, Appellant complained that allowing such testimony would “spit in the face of Rule 701” because it involved asking a lay witness to give an opinion about something that would require expert testimony. In other words, Appellant objected to the lay witness opinion testimony because he believed the jury would use it to determine he was being reckless. Here, the jury determined Appellant was not being reckless. Indeed, he was only convicted of the lesser included offense of negligent operation of a water vessel, a crime he specifically admitted during closing argument at trial. (R.p.583, lines 2-4). Thus, Appellant could not have been prejudiced by this opinion testimony. For all of these reasons, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION